THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Supreme Court

APPEAL FROM GREENVILLE COUNTY
Court of General Sessions

Robin B. Stilwell, Circuit Court Judge

Appellant Case No.: 2012-208587

RECEIVED

MAR 18 2013

S.C. Supreme Court

State of South Carolina,..... Respondent,
v.
Terry Dean Gregory,..... Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

James W. Bannister
P.O. Box 10007
Greenville, SC 29603
864 298-0084
Attorney for the Appellant

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. **DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN ITS INTERPRETATION OF S.C. CODE § 16-11-450(A) WHEN IT DETERMINED THAT THE PHRASE “OR ANOTHER APPLICABLE PROVISION OF LAW” DOES NOT INCLUDE THE COMMON LAW PROVISIONS JUSTIFYING THE USE OF DEADLY FORCE?**
2. **DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN FAILING TO ANALYZE THE COMMON LAW “DEFENSE OF ANOTHER” FROM THE STANDPOINT OF THE PERSON BEING DEFENDED?**
3. **DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN CONCLUDING THAT THE APPELLANT DID NOT PROVE BY A PREPONDERANCE OF THE EVIDENCE THAT HE WAS NOT AT-FAULT IN BRINGING ON THE DIFFICULTY?**
4. **DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN ITS INTERPRETATION OF THE PHRASE “NOT ENGAGED IN UNLAWFUL ACTIVITY” CONTAINED IN S.C. CODE §§ 16-11-440(B) AND 440(C)?**

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Terry Gregory (“Appellant”) was charged with Murder (Indictment No. 2010 GS-23-6119) and Pointing and Presenting a Firearm (Indictment No 2010-GS-23-006118) for an incident that occurred on October 10, 2009. On February 24, 2011, the Appellant filed a Motion to Request an Immunity Hearing pursuant to S.C. Code § 16-11-450(A). On November 7-8, 2011, a hearing was held in front of Robin B. Stilwell, Circuit Court Judge for the Thirteenth Judicial Circuit. At the hearing, the Appellant presented his case for immunity pursuant to the Protection of Persons and Property Act, 16-11-410 *et seq.*

Specifically, the Appellant asserted that he was entitled to immunity through four separate and alternative scenarios. Appellant asserted that S.C. Code § 16-11-450(A) provided him immunity for the common law defenses of self-defense and defense of another. In addition, Appellant asserted that S.C. Code § 16-11-450(A) provided him immunity pursuant to S.C. Code §§ 16-11-440(B) (Defense of Vehicle) and 440(C) (Stand Your Ground). At the close of the hearing, the Trial Court requested proposed orders from both the Appellant and the State in lieu of argument (R. p. 585 ln. 1-14).

On January 30, 2012, the Trial Court issued an Order which denied the Appellant’s request for immunity. The Trial Court held that S.C. Code § 16-11-450(A) did not apply for the common law assertions of self-defense and defense of another. In addition, the Trial Court held that neither § 440(B) nor § 440(C) were applicable.

On February 8, 2012, Appellant filed a Motion for Reconsideration. In his Motion for Reconsideration, the Appellant made it clear that the Trial Court had erred in failing to interpret S.C. Code § 16-11-450(A) to include the common law defenses of self-defense and defense of another, by failing to address defense of another from the standpoint of the person defended, by failing to consider the Deceased in finding the Appellant “at fault for bringing on the difficulty”,

and failing to focus on the Deceased and expanding the statutory time frame in finding that the Appellant had been “engaged in unlawful conduct” at the moment when the fatal shot was fired.

On February 17, 2012, the Trial Court summarily dismissed the Motion for Reconsideration.

SUMMARY OF FACTS

Terry Dean Gregory, hereinafter (“Appellant”) is currently charged with Murder, Pointing and Presenting a Firearm and Possession of a Weapon During Commission of a Violent Crime (R. p. 48 ln. 8-10). These charges all stem from an incident that occurred on Saturday, October 10, 2009, at 10:50 p.m. (R. p. 50 ln. 13-14).

On October 10, 2009, the Appellant and his wife, Louanne Gregory¹, were in downtown Greenville for “Fall for Greenville.” (R. p. 61 ln. 13). Mid-afternoon of that day, they saw the Appellant’s son, Steven Gregory, on Main Street handing out fliers for his aunt’s restaurant, “Shane’s”. (R. p. 63 ln. 10). The Appellant had not seen or spoken to his son in several months. (R. p. 56). The Appellant believed that there was a serious misunderstanding between them that had arisen from a number of different family issues that had occurred that summer. (R. pp. 56-60). Primarily, Steven had not graduated from high school in June like most of his class-mates. (R. pp. 55, 56). In addition, Steven had spoken to Louanne Gregory using profanity and telling her to leave him alone. (R. pp. 57, 439).

The Appellant and Steven spoke briefly. (R. pp. 441-442). The conversation prompted Steven to call his brother Kellet Gregory². The Appellant also called Kellet and left a provocative message for his son. (R. p. 443). Kellet Gregory called the Appellant shortly thereafter. (R. p. 445). It is undisputed that the Appellant and Kellet had gotten along fairly well prior to Kellet going to basic training for the Army. (R. pp. 432-437). In fact, the Appellant threw a party for his son in May 2010 before Kellet left. (R. pp. 432-433). It is also undisputed that Kellet stopped communicating with his father, the Appellant, at some point shortly after he went into basic training. (R. p. 437).

¹ Louanne Gregory is sometimes referred to as “Mary” by other individuals.

² Kellet Gregory is transcribed as “Kelly” in most places.

Both Kellet Gregory and the Appellant agree that the conversation started off in a fairly hostile manner. (R. pp. 386, 445). They both agree, however, that the conversation de-escalated into a discussion about where they could meet to talk. (R. p. 445). Initially, the Appellant suggested downtown Greenville. (R. pp. 387, 446). Next, the Appellant suggested Shane's restaurant nearby. (R. pp. 388, 446). Ultimately, Kellet Gregory suggested the time and meeting place. (R. pp. 389-390; 447). The meeting was scheduled to take place later in the evening of October 10, 2009, after Steven Gregory had gotten off work. (R. p. 364). The Appellant was told to meet his two sons on Shirley Road near a Spinx station at the intersection of Highway 154 and McKelvey Road. (R. pp. 389-390; 446). All parties testified that the intent of the meeting was for the Appellant and his sons to talk. (R. pp. 349; 392-395; 447).

The Appellant believed he was meeting to discuss the issues that had led his sons to cut off communication with him. (R. pp. 445-446). Steven and Kellet testified that they were going to tell their father that they simply did not want him in their life anymore. (R. pp. 392-395).

At the appointed time, Kellet Gregory and Steven Gregory headed toward McKelvey Road in separate trucks. (R. pp. 410-411). They took at least seven other people with them. Kellet Gregory took his friend Brent Hanvey³. (R. p. 395). Steven Gregory took the remaining six. (R. p. 393) The six other people included Lisa Brashier, the two sons' mother and Appellant's ex-wife. In addition, Lisa Brashier's live-in boyfriend Roger White, Sr., his son, Roger White, Jr., and Roger White, Jr.'s best friend Justin Davis accompanied Steven to the scene. The remaining two individuals included Ralph "Tripp" Pittman⁴, Lisa Brashier's son by another marriage, and Dustin Lackey, Tripp Pittman's friend. (R. p. 393). The nine individuals listed above went to the scene in three separate trucks.

³ This persons actual last name is spelled Hamby, however, it is consistently "Hanvey" throughout the transcript.

⁴ Appellant requested that the Transcript reflect the correct name, however it appears as "Ralph Didon" in the Index, "Ralph Didlon" (R. p. 244), and Tripp Pittman as a heading to the testimony.

Kellet and Steven Gregory, and the seven other people arrived at the intersection of South Shirley Road and McKelvey Road first. (R. pp. 348-350). Kellet Gregory and Roger White, Sr. turned their trucks around so that they were facing McKelvey Road and blocking the right hand side of South Shirley Road. (Def.'s Ex. 4; State's Ex. 7)⁵. The third truck, Steven Gregory's, was positioned just off the pavement perpendicular to the entrance to McKelvey Road. (Def.'s Ex. 4). This is the direction from which they expected the Appellant to drive onto South Shirley Road. (R. p. 392). At least eight people exited the trucks and stood towards the front of the two trucks parked in South Shirley Road. (R. p. 366).

Meanwhile, the Appellant left his hotel room in Greenville with his wife Louanne Gregory. (R. pp. 74-76). They had planned on staying the weekend downtown. (R. pp. 62-62). The Appellant and his wife knew that they were meeting his two sons, but had never been informed that there would be a number of other people present. (R. p. 76). The Appellant had suggested a number of places to meet including downtown Greenville, a restaurant in downtown Greenville, and the Spinx gas station on Highway 418. (R. p. 446). The specific location of the meeting that actually took place was suggested by Kellet Gregory, and was unknown to the Appellant. (R. pp. 78, 447).

Initially, the Appellant missed the turn. (R. pp. 50, 80, 448). At **10:49:05 p.m.**, Kellet Gregory used his cell phone to call Louanne Gregory to tell them they had missed the turn. (R. pp. 80, 448). At **10:51:11 p.m.**, some **126 seconds** later, 911 Emergency Services received two phone calls indicating that Roger White, Jr. (hereinafter "the Deceased") had been shot. (R. pp. 50-51; 265).

⁵ All references to Exhibits refer to the physical exhibits which have been transported to the South Carolina Supreme Court Clerk of Court.

Between **10:49 p.m.** and **10:51 p.m.**, there is very little factual dispute of any legal relevance. The State's witnesses agree to the sequence of events, location of the relevant parties, and their conduct during the **126 seconds** of the encounter between the parties.

The undisputed narrative of the critical 126 seconds is as follows: the Appellant arrived at South Shirley Road and stopped his truck in front of the vehicles blocking the road. (R. pp. 451-452). His wife, Louanne Gregory, occupied the passenger side of the truck, but never left her seat. Next, the Appellant opened his driver's-side door and stood between the interior of the driver's-side door and the cab of the truck. His body was partially in and partially out of the truck in the crook of the door with the door opened only wide enough to allow him to stand. (R. p. 90).

The Appellant held a flashlight and asked his sons to come over and talk. (R. p. 450). His sons told him to put the flashlight down, but began to advance towards the Appellant's truck. (R. p. 451). As they advanced, Lisa Brashier and Roger White, Sr. became involved in the conversation. Talking quickly turned to yelling with hateful things being said by all parties. (R. p. 168). At this point, Roger White, Sr., the Deceased, Steven Gregory, Kellet Gregory and Lisa Brashier began moving toward the Appellant's position. (R. pp. 87-88). The Appellant never left the area that he occupied when he first opened the door.

While the Appellant was standing on the inside of his door, his wife, Louanne Gregory, picked up or took out the pistol that was kept in the Appellant's truck. (R. p. 453). The pistol had always been kept in the truck. (R. pp. 76, 441). The Appellant owned the pistol and it was registered to him, Terry Gregory. (R. p. 426). The Appellant possessed a Concealed Weapon Permit (hereinafter "CWP") as did his wife, Louanne Gregory. (R. pp. 425-426; Def.'s Ex. 10.) She began to display the weapon at a number of the individuals that were at or near her side of

the truck. (R. pp. 90-91; 453-454). Several of the individuals testified that they saw Louanne Gregory with the pistol in her hand inside the cab of the truck. (R. p. 91). None of the individuals who had been waiting on the Appellant moved away or backed up at the initial display of the pistol by Louanne Gregory. (R. p. 91).

Depending on which side was testifying, the Appellant either, obtained the gun from his wife and displayed it from his position inside the door of the truck, or the individuals present rushed his door and pinned the Appellant in-between the door of the truck and the cab when he displayed the weapon. (R. pp. 453-454). Under either scenario, there is no dispute that the Appellant maintained his position inside the door of his truck and that at least Kellet Gregory, Steven Gregory, Lisa Brashier, Roger White, Sr. and the Deceased advanced on the Appellant's position. (R. pp. 289-290; 455).

For some moments prior to the fatal shot the pistol was visible to everyone at or near or on the Appellant. (R. pp. 457-458). Lisa Brashier advanced to the Appellant's door and began kicking it. (R. pp. 355, 561). Steven and Kellet Gregory moved up behind her with Roger White, Sr. advancing directly behind Steven and Kellet Gregory. (R. p. 455).

While the Appellant was occupied with these four individuals, the Deceased went down the passenger side of the Appellant's truck. The Deceased then snuck around the back of the Appellant's truck and came up from behind the Appellant. (R. pp. 93-94). His approach brought him to the Appellant's exposed side at the opening of the driver's-side door. (R. pp. 93-94). The Deceased then began to aggressively reach to grab the Appellant's pistol. (R. pp. 356, 417-418, 458). In order to get close enough to actually grab the pistol, the Deceased got between the open driver's-side door and the Appellant. (R. pp. 95-96). His body was up against the Appellant and he was bending over in an effort to grab the gun as it was being held waist-high at the

Appellant's right side. (R. pp. 95-96; 519). The wound indicated that the barrel of the pistol was in contact with the left lower side of the Deceased's neck. (R. p. 471). The Appellant shot once. The bullet entered the Deceased's neck, severed his spinal cord, paralyzed his body and killed him almost instantly. (R. pp. 506-508).

Both Louanne Gregory and Lisa Brashier immediately called 911 completing the critical 126 seconds. (Def.'s Exs. 2 and 3).

While the police and ambulance were en route, Louanne Gregory and Lisa Brashier stayed on the phone with 911. (Def.'s Exs. 2 and 3). Harsh language and threats from those outside the Appellant's truck are fairly clear in the background of the 911 tape. (Def.'s Ex. 2). Throughout the 911 phone call, the Appellant continued to maintain his position with the gun displayed. (R. p. 101; Def.'s Ex. 2). Louanne Gregory stayed on the phone with 911 until a deputy arrived. (R. pp. 100-101; Def.'s Ex. 2). She described in some detail the events that had transpired leading up to the fatal shot. (R. p. 102; Def.'s Ex. 2). Notably, she informed the 911 operator that cars were leaving and people were running from the scene. (R. p. 152, 461-462; Def.'s Ex. 2).

When the first officer arrived on the scene, the Appellant put the gun on the ground and raised his arms in the air. (R. p. 460). The Appellant was handcuffed and placed in the rear of the deputy's patrol vehicle. (R. p. 463). Louanne Gregory was separated from everyone else, interviewed at the scene, escorted to the Greenville County Law Enforcement Center ("LEC"), and interviewed again. (R. pp. 105, 107). The other individuals were held in a group at the rear of the scene, rode with each other to the LEC, waited together in a room at the LEC, and were then interviewed separately. (R. p. 265).

Two individuals who lived close to the incident location also called 911 shortly after the shot was fired. (Def.'s Ex. 2); (R. pp. 173-174, 183). Both of these individuals reported hearing and seeing multiple cars leaving the scene. (R. pp. 170, 187). One of the individuals reported to the 911 operator that an individual had run through his yard and was picked up by a black SUV or van. (R. pp. 185-186).

During the investigation on-scene, deputies discovered marijuana and a smoking pipe in Steven Gregory's truck. (R. p. 292). Deputies discovered an unopened case of beer and an opened and partially empty bottle of vodka in Kellet Gregory's truck. (R. p. 292). Lisa Brashier, Roger White, Sr., Kellet Gregory, Steven Gregory, and Brent Hamby all admitted having consumed some alcohol prior to the meeting. (R. pp. 208, 402, 536). The Appellant and his wife had not consumed any alcohol. (R. p.103).

The post mortem toxicology of the Deceased, revealed a blood alcohol content of .08, marijuana at levels consistent with consumption having occurred within two hours of his death, and very small amounts of amphetamine and methamphetamine. (R. pp. 508-516).

Forensics documented blood drops from the deceased that were located on the interior of the Appellant's driver's-side door. (R. pp. 333, 517; State's Exs. 43-47). Gunshot residue tests were conducted on the Appellant's hands and the Deceased's hands with negative results from both. (R. pp. 497-498, 517-518).

ARGUMENT

1. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN ITS INTERPRETATION OF S.C. CODE § 16-11-450(A) WHEN IT DETERMINED THAT THE PHRASE “OR ANOTHER APPLICABLE PROVISION OF LAW” DOES NOT INCLUDE THE COMMON LAW PROVISIONS JUSTIFYING THE USE OF DEADLY FORCE.

The Trial Court held that the grant of immunity in S.C. Code § 16-11-450(A) does not include a grant of immunity for the common law provisions justifying the use of deadly force such as self-defense, defense of another, and defense of habitation. (R. p. 9) In so holding, the Trial Court erred in its interpretation of the statute.

A. STANDARD OF REVIEW

The Appellant asserts that the Trial Court has misinterpreted S.C. Code § 16-11-450(A). As such, Appellant alleges an error of law. *State v. Baccus*, 367 S.C. 41, 48, 625 S.E.2d 216, 220 (2006) (appellate court sits to review errors of law in criminal cases).

B. STATUTORY LANGUAGE

The statute at issue is South Carolina Code § 16-11-450(A). It states in pertinent part:

“A person who uses deadly force as permitted by the provisions of this article or another applicable provision of law is justified in using deadly force and is immune from criminal prosecution and civil action for the use of deadly force.”

(Emphasis added). The term “**or**” indicates that there are two different sources of immunity for a person who uses deadly force. As this Court stated in *Brewer v. Brewer*, 242 S.C. 9, 14, 129 S.E.2d 736, 738 (1963), the use of the word “or” in a statute “is a disjunctive particle that marks an alternative.” Therefore, if the word “or” is to be given any meaning, then there must be two alternative sources for the grant of immunity contained in S.C. Code § 16-11-450(A). The first source of immunity is the provisions of the article. The alternative source of immunity is any other applicable provision of law.

The first of the two alternatives is easily addressed. The language “**as permitted by the provisions of this article**,” refers specifically to the “Protection of Persons and Property Act.” In particular, the factual scenarios permitting the use of deadly force and granting immunity for the same are described in S.C. Code § 16-11-440(A) and (C). The provisions permitting the use of deadly force in the “Protection of Persons and Property Act” were designed to expand the common-law right to self-defense, defense of habitation and defense of another. This fact is made clear in the statement of purpose contained in the Article itself: “no person . . . should be required to surrender his personal safety to a criminal, nor should a person . . . be required to needlessly retreat in the face of intrusion or attack.” *S.C. Code* § 16-11-420(E) (Supp. 2006).

While sub-sections (A) and (C) overlap to some extent, they ultimately describe two different types of confrontations. Sub-section (A) can best be described as the “Defense of Vehicle” immunity, whereas sub-section (C) can best be described as the “Stand Your Ground” immunity. The fact that the language “**as permitted by the provisions of this article**,” stands alone as source for the grant of immunity appears to be without question. *See State v. Duncan*, 392 S.C. 404, 709 S.E.2d 662 (2011).

The second of the two alternatives is also readily discernible. The language “**or another applicable provision of law**” refers to the common-law provisions for self-defense, defense of another, and defense of habitation. The plain meaning of the word “law” includes statutory law, constitutional law, regulatory law, case law, and the common law. *Black’s Law Dictionary* 6th ed. p. 612 (1991). Even if the plain meaning of “law” did not include the common law, South Carolina has adopted the common law of England by statute. “The common law of England . . . continue[s] in full force and effect” in South Carolina. *S.C. Code* § 14-1-50. Self-defense, defense of another, and defense of habitation have long been considered part of the common law

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