STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE SUPREME COURT

RECEIVED

DEC 17 2012

APPEAL FROM GREENVILLE COUNTY  
The Honorable Robin B. Stilwell, Circuit Court Judge  
S.C. Supreme Court

Appellate Case No. 2012-208587

THE STATE

RESPONDENT,

V.

TERRY DEAN GREGORY,

APPELLANT.

INITIAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

JOHN W. MCINTOSH  
Chief Deputy Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA  
Assistant Deputy Attorney General

ALPHONSO SIMON JR.  
Assistant Attorney General  
South Carolina Attorney General's Office  
PO Box 11549  
Columbia, SC 29211-1549  
(803) 734-6305

WILLIAM W. WILKINS III  
Solicitor, Thirteenth Circuit  
Greenville County Courthouse

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

Appellant’s case is clearly distinguishable from Hendrix. Here, the trial court did not find that Appellant made any statements to any of the other individuals at the scene to “back off,” as was done by the appellant in Hendrix. To the contrary, there was testimony here that Appellant pointed the firearm and threatened others at the scene. Altogether, Appellant did not establish by a preponderance of the evidence that he effectuated a withdrawal from the conflict at the scene. As a result, the trial court’s determination that Appellant was not without fault in bringing on the difficulty is supported by the record, and this claim for relief should be denied.

II. THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN FINDING THAT APPELLANT WAS NOT ENTITLED TO IMMUNITY UNDER THE THEORY THAT APPELLANT WAS ACTING IN DEFENSE OF HIS WIFE.

Appellant next contends the trial court erred in not properly considering whether Appellant was entitled to immunity under a defense of others analysis. Respondent submits this claim of error is without merit.

**A. The trial court correctly found Appellant was not entitled to immunity because he was at fault in bringing on the difficulty.**

“Under the theory of defense of others, one is not guilty of taking the life of an assailant who assaults a friend, relative, or bystander if that friend, relative, or bystander would likewise have the right to take the life of the assailant in self-defense.” State v. Long, 325 S.C. 59, 64, 480 S.E.2d 62, 64 (1997).

“The doctrine of freedom from fault in bringing on a difficulty as a condition precedent to a plea of self-defense applies with equal force to a case in which one person interferes in a difficulty between two others in behalf of, or to protect one of them; and generally speaking a person who does this will not be allowed the benefit of the plea of self-defense, unless such plea would have been available to the person whose part he took in case he himself had done the killing, since the person interfering is affected by the principle that the party bringing on the difficulty cannot take advantage of his own wrong.”

State v. Cook, 78 S.C. 253, 257, 59 S.E. 862, 863 (1907)(quoting Wharton on Homicide § 332 (3d Ed. 1907)).

In such case the right to take the life of such assailant upon such unprovoked assault extends to any relative, friend, or bystander who would likewise have the right to take the life of such assailant if such act was necessary to save the person so wrongfully assailed from imminent danger of being murdered by such assailant. In other words, if the assailant makes a malicious and unprovoked assault with a deadly weapon upon one person with the apparent malicious intention to take the life of the person assailed and thereby commit murder, then, where the danger of the commission of such murder is imminent, any relative, friend, or bystander would

have the right to take the life of such assailant if necessary in order to prevent the commission of such murder, provided there was no other reasonable means of escape for the person so assailed, and **provided both the person assailed and the person coming to his defense were without legal fault in bringing on the difficulty.**

State v. Hays, 121 S.C. 163, 168, 113 S.E. 362, 363 (1922)(emphasis added).

As already discussed in Section I above, the trial court's determination that Appellant was not without fault in bringing on the difficulty is supported by the record. In light of that finding, and in light of the requirement under Hays that both the defendant and the person he is defending must both be without fault in bringing on the difficulty for the defense of others to apply, Appellant was not entitled to immunity under a theory he was acting in defense of Louanne Gregory when he shot and killed Roger White Jr.

This conclusion is consistent with the general principles underlying self-defense and defense of others. Both defenses recognize that a defendant is justified in killing another when the defendant was not responsible for creating the circumstances that led to the killing. To follow Appellant's logic in this case, a defendant would be allowed to kill another with no repercussions by coming to the defense of a loved one the defendant put in harm's way.

**B. If the trial court erred in not making specific findings regarding the application of the defense of others, this case should be remanded to the trial court for such a determination.**

Even if the trial court erred in not fully assessing Appellant's claim that he was acting in defense of Louanne when he shot the victim, Appellant is not necessarily entitled to immunity. Instead, it would appear that a necessary

factual determination would be needed, and the case should be remanded back to the trial court for such a determination.

Under the theory of defense of others, one is not guilty of taking the life of an assailant who assaults a friend, relative, or bystander if that friend, relative, or bystander would likewise have the right to take the life of the assailant in self-defense. State v. Long, 325 S.C. 59, 64, 480 S.E.2d 62, 64 (1997).

To establish self-defense in South Carolina, four elements must be present: (1) the defendant must be without fault in bringing on the difficulty; (2) the defendant must have been in actual imminent danger of losing his life or sustaining serious bodily injury, or he must have actually believed he was in imminent danger of losing his life or sustaining serious bodily injury; (3) if his defense is based upon his belief of imminent danger, defendant must show that a reasonably prudent person of ordinary firmness and courage would have entertained the belief that he was actually in imminent danger and that the circumstances were such as would warrant a person of ordinary prudence, firmness, and courage to strike the fatal blow in order to save himself from serious bodily harm or the loss of his life; and (4) the defendant had no other probable means of avoiding the danger.

State v. Slater, 373 S.C. 66, 69-70, 644 S.E.2d 50, 52 (2007).

If Appellant is correct that the trial court made a legal error in not making specific factual findings regarding whether Appellant acted in defense of his wife, Louanne, this case should be remanded to the trial court with instructions to make such specific factual determinations regarding whether Appellant was acting in her defense. In light of the conflicting testimony presented regarding what occurred on the night of the shooting, such a determination would require a weighing of the testimony and assessment of the credibility of the witnesses. Thus, a remand to the trial court to make the required determinations would be proper if such findings are necessary to resolve this claim. See, e.g., State v.

Primus, 312 S.C. 256, 258, 440 S.E.2d 128, 129 (1994)(remanding case back to trial court to resolve factual issue because Supreme Court has no jurisdiction to weigh evidence in a law case).

III. THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN FINDING THAT APPELLANT ENGAGED IN UNLAWFUL ACTIVITY, THUS RENDERING IMMUNITY UNDER S.C. CODE ANN. §§ 16-11-440(B) AND 16-11-440(C) INAPPLICABLE.

The trial court did not abuse its discretion in finding Appellant was engaged in unlawful activity for the purposes of S.C. Code Ann. §§ 16-11-440(B) and 16-11-440(C). The trial court's Order clearly reject's Appellant's position that he pointed and presented his handgun at the scene as an act of self-defense. This was based upon the trial court's determination that Appellant's interpretation of the facts was untenable. As a result, Appellant was engaged in unlawful activity when he pointed his handgun at Lisa Brashier and his sons at the scene of the confrontation that ended in the victim's death.

#### **Trial Court's Ruling**

Specifically, the Defendant argues that he was in a place where he had a right to be, was not engaged in any unlawful activity and met deadly force with force. This Court respectfully disagrees that he was engaged in lawful activity.

In the statute, the Legislature specifically excludes a person from immunity under the Act if he or she "is engaged in an unlawful activity or is using the dwelling, residence or occupied vehicle to further an unlawful activity." While not precisely the same, this proposition is very closely akin to the common law notion that one must be without fault in bringing about the difficulty in a case of Self-Defense.

The Defendant would argue that simply arriving at a predetermined meeting place, lawfully armed with a firearm, and exiting his vehicle to talk would not amount to unlawful activity. Those facts, in and of themselves, would be indeed persuasive that the Defendant was not engaged in any unlawful activity. However, taking those facts in context with the precipitating events and the clear intent to engage in an altercation, the Defendant's assertion of peaceful purpose and lawful conduct fails closer inspection.

It is clear that the Defendant agreed to meet his sons for the purposes of an altercation. The Defendant's claim that the purpose for the meeting was to simply talk is without credibility, particularly in context with the Defendant's aggressive posture toward Steven and his threatening phone message to Kellett. The Defendant knew and, in fact, intended that the heated arguments begun earlier that day with his sons would continue. Furthermore, it is disingenuous to suggest that the possibility of a physical altercation was not considered by the Defendant. The Defendant's comments to Kellett that he "had no balls" and that he was "a little chicken shit bastard" can be viewed as nothing other than a calculated strategy of stirring up aggressive feelings and goading the boys to fight. In fact, the comment "better yet we're going to stand up and talk" appears to be an outright invitation to fight. The Court construes this conduct as contrary to notions of law and order and, thus, unlawful. Therefore, based on the Defendant's unlawful conduct and complicity in the altercation, this Court finds that the Defendant has failed to prove by a preponderance of the evidence that he is entitled to immunity under Subsection (C) of the Act.

(Order at pp. 6-7, R. pp. xxx-xxx).

**The trial court's determination that Appellant was engaged in unlawful activity was reasonable.**

Appellant was not engaged in a lawful activity just prior to the shooting. In pointing and presenting his firearm at the scene, Appellant was engaged in an unlawful activity. As a result, Appellant was not entitled to stand his ground under S.C. Code Ann. 16-11-440(C).

S.C. Code Ann. 16-11-440(C) states:

A person who is not engaged in an unlawful activity and who is attacked in another place where he has a right to be, including, but not limited to, his place of business, has no duty to retreat and has the right to stand his ground and meet force with force, including deadly force, if he reasonably believes it is necessary to prevent death or great bodily injury to himself or another person or to prevent the commission of a violent crime as defined in Section 16-1-60.

At issue here is whether Appellant was engaged in an unlawful activity when he pointed and presented his firearm at Lisa and his sons at the scene. Appellant contended that he was acting lawfully because he was acting in self-defense. Pointing and presenting a firearm is an unlawful activity. S.C. Code Ann. 16-23-410; see generally State v. Wharton, 381 S.C. 209, 216, 672 S.E.2d 786, 789 (2009)(finding pointing and presenting a firearm an unlawful activity in context of involuntary manslaughter).

Here, the trial court specifically found that after hearing threats and after exchanging heated words with the victim's group, Appellant pointed and presented his pistol at Lisa and threatened to kill her. (Order at pp. 3-4, R. pp. xx-xx). It was not until after those actions were taken that the victim approached Appellant from behind and attempted to grab the firearm. (Order at p. 4, R. pp. xx-xx). The trial court's findings are supported by the record. (Tr. 183-86, 198, 199-201, 218, 265-66, 318, 360, 378, 526-29). In light of those facts, the trial court reasonably found Appellant was engaged in an unlawful activity when the victim attempted to take the gun from Appellant. As a result, this claim should be denied and dismissed.

Contrary to Appellant's contention, the trial court did not improperly conflate "engaged in unlawful activity" with the concept of bringing on the difficulty. While the trial court did note that the two concepts were very similar, its explanation as to why it found Appellant was engaged in unlawful activity was not based solely upon the fact Appellant was at fault in bringing on the difficulty. Instead, the trial court's discussion about the background of the development of

the confrontation merely explained why the trial court rejected Appellant's contention that the presentation of the firearm was lawful. This discussion was warranted, especially in light of the fact that one can invoke self-defense as a defense to pointing and presenting a firearm. See generally State v. Davis, 309 S.C. 56, 419 S.E.2d 820 (Ct.App.1992). Altogether, the trial court's finding was reasonable and should be affirmed.

IV. APPELLANT WAS NOT ENTITLED TO IMMUNITY UNDER S.C. CODE ANN. § 16-11-450(A), AND ANY ERROR BY THE TRIAL COURT IN NOTING THAT THE STATUTE DID NOT INCLUDE SELF-DEFENSE OR DEFENSE OF OTHERS WAS HARMLESS.

The trial court did not commit reversible error in denying Appellant's request for immunity under S.C. Code Ann. § 16-11-450(A). As noted by the trial court, Appellant failed to establish by a preponderance of the evidence that he killed Roger White Jr. in self-defense.

**The Ruling Below**

In finding Appellant was not entitled to immunity under S.C. Code Ann. § 16-11-450(A), the trial court noted that Appellant argued that under this subsection, Appellant was entitled to immunity under the common law doctrines of self-defense and defense of others. (Order at pp. , R. p. xxx).

This Court disagrees and sees no evidence that the Legislature intended for the Trial Judge to usurp the jury's role in making a factual determination regarding Self-Defense. However, for the sake of argument and for the purpose of a factual finding, this Court finds that the Defendant has not proven by the preponderance of the evidence that he is entitled to immunity under the common law doctrine of Self-Defense.

(Order, R. p. xxx). The trial court went on to define the elements of self-defense and noted that self-defense is extended for the defense of others. Ultimately, the trial court found that Appellant was not entitled to immunity under self-defense and defense of others because he failed to satisfy every prong of the self-defense standard. Specifically, the trial court found that Appellant was not without fault in bringing on the difficulty.

**Appellant is not entitled to immunity if the trial court erred in holding that S.C. Code Ann. § 16-11-450(A) does not include self-defense or defense of others.**

S.C. Code Ann. § 16-11-450(A) states:

A person who uses deadly force as permitted by the provisions of this article or another applicable provision of law is justified in using deadly force and is immune from criminal prosecution and civil action for the use of deadly force, unless the person against whom deadly force was used is a law enforcement officer acting in the performance of his official duties and he identifies himself in accordance with applicable law or the person using deadly force knows or reasonably should have known that the person is a law enforcement officer.

Whether the trial court erred in finding the statute does not apply to either self-defense or defense of others is of no consequence. The trial court went on to find that Appellant was not entitled to a finding that he was either acting in self-defense or defense of others when he shot the victim. (Order at pp. 8-9, R. pp. xxx-xxx). In regards to both defenses, the trial court noted that Appellant failed to establish he was without fault in bringing on the difficulty. As already noted in Sections I and II above, the trial court's findings that Appellant was not acting in self-defense or in the defense of his wife are supported by the record. Thus, Appellant is not entitled to immunity because the trial court correctly found that Appellant failed to establish by a preponderance of the evidence that he was acting in either self-defense or in the defense of another when he shot Roger White, Jr. As a result, any error by the trial court in its interpretation in regards to S.C. Code Ann. § 16-11-450(A) was harmless.

CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, the Respondent respectfully requests this Court affirm the trial court's Order denying Appellant's Motion for Immunity and deny Petitioner's appeal.